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Daniel Gameyz, (222578)
Gamez Law Firm, PC

501 W. Broadway, Suite 800
San Diego, CA 92101

Attorngys for Platntiffs and the Proposed Classes

[addstional counsel on signature page]

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
L.LOS ANGELES DIVISION

MATTHEW ALIL individually and on Case No.
behalf of all others similatly situated,

Plaintff, _ o N o
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

V.

KEVIN MASON, P.A.; GM LAW o o
FIRM, LLC; KEVIN P. MASON, in his { DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
individual capacity; CHANTEL L.

GRAN'T, in her individual capacity;

STUART E. GOLDBERG, in his

individual capacity; JOIIN AND JANE

DOE DEFENDANTS 1-5; and XY7Z

BUSINESS ENITIY DEFENDANTS

1-5,

Defendants.

COMPLAINT
1. Plaintiff, Matthew Ali (“Plaintiff” ot “Mr, Ali”) brings this action fot himself,

and on behalf of all persons in the United States who have suffered financial loss at the
hands of Defendants, Kevin Mason, P.A,, GM Law Fitm, LL_C, Kevin P. Mason, esq,
individually, Chantel L. Gtant, esq., individually, Stuart E. Goldberg, esq., individually, John
and Jane Doe Defendants 1-5, and XYZ Business Entity Defendants 1-5 (the “Attorney and
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Law Fitm Defendants”), due to those attotneys’, and theit law fitms” legal malpractice (gross
negligence), breach of contract, bteach of exptess and implied warranties, breaches of
fiduciary duties, or, in the alternative, fraud, as telates to these Defendants’ imptropetly-
solicited legal services of so-called “ptivate student loan debt resolution.”

2. Plaintiffs allegations are based upon petsonal knowledge 4s to his own acts and
upon information and belief as to all other matters alleged in this Complaint, including the
investigation of counsel, publicly available infotmation, news articles, press releases, and
additional analysis. Plaintiff believes that substantial evidendaty support will exist fot the
allegations set forth hetein after a reasonable opportunity for discovety.

I. NATURE OF THE ACTION
3. Flotida attorneys Kevin Mason, Chantel Grant, and Stuart Goldberg, and theit

law firms, Kevin Mason, P.A., and GM Law Fitm, LLC (the “Attorney and Law Fitm
Defendants”), and John and Jane Doe Defendants 1-5 and XYZ Business Entity Defendants
1-5 (the “ptesently unknown Defendants”), have committed legal malpractice (and other acts
of gross negligence), or in the altetnative, breaches of conttact, express and implied
watranties, fraud in the inducement, fraud-in-the-factum, breaches of fiduciary dutles, and
othet violations of common law and statutotry duties owed to M, Ali and the Class Membets
he secks to represent, comptised of cutrent and fotmer clients of the Defendants referenced
in this Paragraph. Plaintiff brings this proposed class action on behalf of himself and all other
petsons who have suffered financial loss as a result of the attorney-negligence of the
Defendants’ so-called “private student loan resolution setvices” within the applicable statute
of limitations (the “Class Petiod”).

4. As detailed fusthet, infia, in this Complaint, Mt, Ali and the Attorney and Class
Members have suffeted financial damages at the hands of the Attotney and Law Firm
Defendants via the so-called “ptivate student loan debt resolution” legal services that these
Defendants, and the presently unknown Defendants, have imptopetly-solicited to Mr. Ali

and to the Class Membets.
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5. In brief, the grossly-negligent, ot fraudulent, so-called “ptivate student loan debt
tesolution” legal services that the Defendants, and the presently unknown Defendants, have
solicited to Mt. A]i, and Class Members, wotk as follows: these Flotida attorneys, through a
vatiety of business entities, some of which, upon information and belief are incorpotated in
the State of Delawate, solicit (via cold calls or ditect solicitatons through the mail)
consumers struggling with the repayment of theit Navient-serviced private student loans to
enter into a so-called “private student loan debt tesolution program” that the Defendants
have negotiated with Sallie Mae/Navient (ot other private student loan lenders). This
program, upon information and belief does not, in fact exist. Howevet, through fraud, ot
pross negligence on the patt of the Defendants, Mr. Ali, and the Attotney and Class
Members that he seeks to teptresent, have (putportedly and allegedly) agreed to pay,
unbeknownst to them, the Defendants 50% of theit total ptivate student-loan-balance, in
monthly payments, for 60 months. These payments, it is later discovered (but which was not
disclosed to Mr. Ali and the Class Membets), ate not applied, in any way, to their student-
loan-balances, and instead ate fees that have been kept by the Defendants, especially Flotida
attorneys, Kevin Mason and his law pattner, Chantel Grant. Stuatt Goldberg also profited
from this (RICO) Entetptise. |

6. Defendants’ web of relationships, and the attangements between them, funneled
unjust and unearned profits and/or othet illicit benefits to the Defendants through theit
collusive activities. Fach Defendant patticipated in the scheme with the knowledge and
collusion of the othet participants, as desctibed in greater detail in this Complaint.

7. Throughout the Class Petiod, Defendants have engaped individually, and in
concert with one anothet, in unlawful, abusive and unfair practices with respect to the
attorney-client relationships formed with the Plaindff and Class Members. Plaintiff asserts
the following claims against Defendants: (a) claitns for violation of the Racketeer Influenced
and Corrupt Organizations Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), as further desctibed below; (b) claims
for engaging in a conspiracy to deftaud Plaintiff and the Class Members in violation of RICO
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18 U.S.C. § 1962(d); (¢) claims for violation of California Business & Professions Code §
17200, et seq.; (d) claims fot attorney malpractice (gtoss negligence) on behalf of Plaindff and
Class Membets; and (¢) fraud (individual claitm of the Plaintiff only).
8. Accotdingly, Plaintiff and Class Members challenge Defendants’ tortious, and
otherwise unlawful, conduct and they seek statutoty and compensatory damages.
II. PARTIES
A. Plaintiff
9, Phintiff, Matthew Ali, is a resident of Los Angeles, California, Matthews Ali
seeks certification under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23 to be the Class Representative of
the proposed class action class, define it this Complaint, below. Matthew Ali suffers from
the medical condition of albinistn, which has left him legally blind. The Defendants did take
advantage of Matthew Ali’s blindness for wrongful financial gain, as detailed in this class
action lawsuit.

B. Defendants
10.  First-named Defendant, Kevin Mason, P,A,, is a Florida cotpotation that offered

professional legal services to the public. This business entity has never been tegistered to
conduct business within California with the California Secretaty of State’s Office. Florida
attorney, Kevin Mason, is the tegistered agent of Kevin Mason, P.A.

11.  Second-named Defendant, GM Law Fitm, LLC, is a Flotida limited liability
company that offers professional legal services to the public. This busihess entity has never
been tegisteted to conduct busitiess within California with the California Sectetaty of State’s
Office. This law firm is owned and operated by Flotida attotneys, Kevin P. Mason and
Chantel 1.. Grant. Chantel L. Gtant, is the registered agent of GM Taw Fitm, LLC, It
ptincipal place of business is: 1515 South Federal Highway, Suite 105, Boca Raton, Flosida
33432.

12, ‘Third-named Defendant, Kevin P. Mason, individually, is a Florida attorney.

Kevin Mason is an ownet and ptincipal of Kevin Mason, P.A., and GM Law Firm, LLC,
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along with his law pattner, Chantel L. Grant. Kevin Mason may be setved at: 1515 South
Federal Highway, Suite 105, Boca Raton, Florida 33432,

13.  Fourth-named Defendant, Chantel L, Grant, individually, is a Flotrida attorney.
Upon information and belief, Chantel Gtant is an owner and principal of Kevin Mason, P.A,,
and GM Law Firm, LLC, along with her law pattnet, Kevin P. Magon, Chantel Grant may be
served at: 1515 South Federal Highway, Suite 105, Boca Raton, Florida 33432,

14.  Fifth-named Defendant, Stuatt F. Goldberg, individually, is a Flotida attorney,
Stuatt Goldberg is a2 member of the RICO Entesptise formed by the Defendants to
unlawfully profit from amounts to a factory-fatm of legal malpractice related to the RICO
Enterptise’s mishandling of its clients’ ptivate student loatt accounts via the so-called “ptivate
student loan debt resolution” legal setvices offered by the Defendants and their RICO
Enterptise. Stuart Goldberg, upon information and belief, initisted the RICO Enterptise

some time in year 2010, Stuart Goldbetg may be setved with process at: 2039 Centre Pointe
Boulevard, Tallahassee, Florida 32308,

15.  John and Jane Doe Defendants 1-5, and XY7 Business Entity Defendants 1-5,
ate presently unidentified persons ot compaties who have committed legal malpractice (and
other acts of gtoss negligence), ot in the alternative, breaches of contract, express and
implied watranties, fraud in the inducement, fraud-in-the-factum, breaches of fiduciaty
duties, and other violations of common law and statutoty dutes owed to Mr. Ali and the

Class Membets he seeks to represent in this class action lawsuit,
III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE
16.  This Coutt has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28
U.S.C. § 1331 and 18 US.C. §§ 1961, 1962, and 1964,
17.  ‘This Court also has supplemental jurisdiction ovet Plaintdffs state law claims
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367.
18.  Venue is propet in this district under 28 US.C. § 1391(b) because a substantial

patt of the events giving rise to the claims occutred in this disttict. Further, Defendants
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purposefully submitted themselves to specific petsonal jutisdiction with this Court via their
intentional and significant contacts with the forum state of Califotnia, includuing, but not
limited to, reaching into California to solicit legal business from Matthew Ali, and presumably
hundreds, if not thousands, of California citizens who ate covered under the definition of the
Class Members in this class action lawsuit.

IV. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

A. The Student Loan Resolution Scam/Legal Malpractice by Kevin Mason,
Chantel Grant, Kevin Mason Law, P.A.,, GM Law Firm, LLC, and Stuatt
Goldberg, on Behalf of Plaintiff and Class Members,

19.  Plaintiff, Matthew Ali, like all Class Memberts in this class action lawsuit, has
been a victim of (gross) legal malpractice, breaches of contract and implied warranties, of, in
the alternative, fraud at the hands of Kevin Mason, Chantel Grant, Kevin Mason, P.A.,, GM
Law Firm, L.LC, Stuart Goldbetg, and other cuttently unidentified attorneys and business
entities under which these attorneys have operated their so-called “ptivate student loan
resolution” legal services (the RICO Entetprise). |

20.  'The following ate some illustrative consumer,/client complaints telating to
(gross) legal malpractice, or frauds, committed by the Attotney and Law Fitm Defendants
against Plaintiff and the Attorney and Law Firm Class Members, as telates to the Attorney
and Law Firm Defendants’ so-called “ptivate student loan tesolution” legal sesvices that are at
issue in this class action lawsuit (spelling and grammar mistakes temain as found in the
original) (Collegelnvestor.com, Forums, (January 22, 2018),
http://forums.thecollegeinvestot.com/index.phprtopic=367.0)

Topic: Kevin Mason Law Firm
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d. July 25, 2016 (Fin:

£ October 5, 2016 (Response from bgrasso): |
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g, October 10, 2016 (FOIIOW up comment from bgtasso):

21.  'The following ate some additional illustrative consumer/client complaints and
questions from Reddit.com relating to (gtoss) legal malpractice, ot frauds, committed by the

Defendants against Plaintiff and Class Members, as relates to the Defendants’ so-called
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“private student loan resolution” legal setvices that ate at issue in this class action lawsuit
(spelling and grammar mistakes remain as found in the otiginal) (Reddit.com, Fotutns,

(January 22, 2018),

“Kevin Mason Law Office student loan consolidation/forgiveness a scam?” Reddit

Comment Thread:

Submitted ‘1 Year Ago” by pinion13: I was hoping someone could shed some light
on this and I flgured this sub might be the place to de It. This law

office: www.kevinmasonlaw.com called offering legal assistance with basically
taking action against the company servicing my private loans and promising that
they could cut the loans in half through a settlement. The part that makes me feel
like it is a scam is I would have to then, apparently, pay back the law office
because they will "pay off" my loans. This is If I understood correctly. I got all the
information from het in an email and told her I couldn't continue talking right now,
but would be in touch. This almost sounds like something that could be legit, but
who knows. What do you guys think, is this a scam?

Response from DebtResThowaway: Here's how It works: Kevin Mason handles
unsecured debt and private student loans. He does not deal with federal student
foans, mortgages, etc.Kevin Mason charges 50% of the unsecured debt that you
want dismissed as a retainer fee. This is of the principal amount, not the total
payoff if you kept making payments (which is usually 2-3 times more). He allows

attached.

There are two outcomaes. He is able to completely dismiss the debt or settle for &
fraction of the amount. The dismissals occur when the credltors have violated the
consumers rights (usually either through the a few different acts, FCBA is one of
them). If there is more Interest I'll dig up the exact ones.

For a private student loan, lets take an extreme just for the sake of discussion.
Let's say you see a commercial for & trade school, It advertises that people
graduating are earning 50k a year and they have a 98% placement rate of their
students. You are excited and decide to enroll. You are young and don't know
much about finance. They loan you 60k.

N.lo_
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You graduate and can't get a job for a year or two. You take crap jobs in the
meantime because you know now with your new skillset it Is a matter of time till
you are doing what you love. Except you find that job , and it pays 35k a year.
You ask around , maybe contact some old school mates, they are all either not in
their field of study or earning 30-40k a year.

How can a financlal institution think an 18 year old who is going into a fleld that
pays 35k a year is ever going to be able to pay back 60k?(really far mote once
you compute the terms)? Did the advertisement claiming 98% placement
misrepresent the "product" that was flnanced?

This is an over simplified slam dunk scenario just to give you an idea of the
possibilities when using a lawyer who specializes in consumer protection law.

No lawyer can give a guarantee, it would be like you getting arrested for murder
and the lawyer telling you he can guarantee you will get off.

One other thing, Kevin Mason is not a bankruptcy lawyer. This isn't because
bankruptcy is inherently bad, it's just not what he specializes in. In some cases
bankruptcy may be the better option for you.

Response from CynFul22: Can you speak to what happens to your credit and your
co-signers credit while Mr. Mason is fighting to lower your debt? Also, I received
their retainer for half my debt, but what concerns me s that no where in writing
does it state that the money I pay into the trust account each month for the
length of my dispute will be used to settle the original debt, Does that make
sense? So let's say I sign this retainer for nearly $42k, and Mr. Mason Is able to
get my debt lowered from the current $82k down to $50k, Where does it ever
specify that I will not be responsible for the $50k AND NOW on top of that this
$42k retainer. Hope that makes sense, any feedback would be appreciated.

Response from MyMoronRadatFoundYou: They are only offering settlement
services where they offer a settlement, and do not offer any sort of guarantee, In
addition they are pushing student loan consolidation and modification as if it is
only a service they can do when actually all federally Insured student loans offer
students an opportunity to apply for these directly with the servicer, In addition
he is slyly implying that he can handle the forgiveness of the debt, but that's
through bankruptcy, which any BK attorney can do. Federally insured student
loans are generally exempt from being discharged in a bankruptey so that
probably won't work

- 11 -
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e. Answer to question (“Did you evet move forward with themp I (G._Blaze) just got a
call from them today and T kind of got that “scam” feeling,) from pinion13: No I didnt,
felt to much like a scam. It felt like they would take over your debt, then try to
battle it out in court to try to reduce them, and If they can't lower the debt they
would more than likely charge you for their sarvices and now they have your debt,
probably at a higher interest rate. Somewhere In their contract I'm sure there is
something that will completely screw you over,

22.  The following is anothet illustrative comtent post from the Web site,
Disqus.com, that shows the legal malpractice, ot frauds, that Plaintff and the Attorney and
Law Firm Class Members have suffered at the hands of Kevin Mason, Chantel Grant, Kevin
Mason Law, P.A., GM TLaw Fitm, LLC, Stuart Goldbesg, and curtently unidentified attorneys
and business entities under which these so-called “ptivate student loan debt resolution” legal
setvices (the RICO Enterprise) have been matketed, and improperly-solicited, causing preat
financial and othet harms to Plaintiff and Class Members:

(Disqus.com, (January 22, 2018),

https://disqus.com/home/discussion/getoutofdebtguysite/this_is_how you can_settle_you

¢_navient_student loan/, posted by “Brittany Grasso”:

Also wondering what happened during/after your settlement with Kevin Mason? Since Navient
offered a 55% settlement and you were only paying 50% to Kavin Mason did you have to pay the
remaining 5%? Also, was your credit fixed aftet the lawsuit?

| was also suckered into using Kevin Mason law to lower the remalining $82k+ on my private Navient
loans and now owe $46k+ to Kevin Mason and have been paying them over $700 a month for about
a year now.

They never warned me that my pretty great credit score would be completely destroyed as well as
my dad's, who was my co-signer. It's really stressing me out and I'm losing a lot of sleep lately. |
actually missed a wedding yesterday because | tried renting a car and couldn't because of my now
498 credit score. .

They keep telling me it will take up to 3 years for a resolution and there Isn't a guarantee my gredit
will be fixed, 2 things they never mentioned ih the beginning and | honestly can't Imagine suffering
through 2 more years of bad credit and stress like this,

| should've just kept paying Navient the $700+ a month for the next 10 years just for peace of mind |
guess. | also just received letters from Navient saying my loans are now in default and will be turned
over to a collection agency..did this happen to you as well? | emailed the parson I'm set up with at
national legal staffing about how they can still have a sult agalnst Navient now that my loans are
now in the hands of a collection agency and they haven't gotten back to me yet.

Any advice on what | can do or what my rights are? Please heip!
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23.  Plaintiff was imptopetly-solicited, like ptesumably all Class Membets, by the
Defendants and he has suffered serious financial and petsonal harm from the legal
malpractice, ot, in the alternative, frauds, depicted in the above online comments that have
been included in this class action lawsuit,

24, A copy of the Plaintiffs Aptil 29, 2015, engagement letter with Defendant,
Stuart Goldberg, and his law firm — the ptecutsor to the other Defendants it this tatter -
which establishes the attorney-client relationship that existed between Stuart Goldberg and
the Plaintiff is attached to, and fully incorporated into, this Complaint as Collective Fxhibit
“17 (note: this exhibit includes the email message to which the Stuart Goldberg Engagement
Letter was attached).

25, Then, on Octobet 28, 2015, and without explanation, the Defendants (via the
so-called “National Legal Staff Suppott” of Delawate) sent the Plaintiff a “Limited Scope
Legal Services Agteement” to be entered between the Plaintiff and Kevin Mason, esq,, and
Kevin Mason, P.A., of Flotida.

26. A copy of the PlaintifPs October 28, 2015, “Limited Scope Lepal Setvices
Agreement” with Defendants, Kevin Mason, and his law firm, Kevin Mason, P.A,, is attached
to, and fully incorporated into, this Complaint as Exhibit “2”.

27, This “Lithited Scope Legal Services Agteement”, Ex, 2, is an unlawful,
unconscionable, and unethical attotney-client contract, Among many other problems (which
ate simultaneously violation of the applicable Rules of Professional Conduct and ABA Model
Rules of Professional Conduct for attorneys), this POA gives complete, final, and absolute
settlement authotity to Kevin Mason, P.A,, and “any of its attotneys.”

28,  As a matter of fact, the CFPB has teleased at least two separate Consumer
Advisoty Notices specifically stating that so-called “student loan debt resolution™ programs,
of the nature perpetuated by the Attorney and Law Firm Defendants in this mattet, are, in a

nutshell, scams.

w_13..
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29.  'The first of these CFPB Consumet Advisoty Notices, “Consumer Advisory:
You don’t have to pay someone to help you with yout student loans,” July 3, 2013, by Rohit
Chopta, is attached, and incotpotated into, this Complaint as Exhibit “3”.

30. The second of these CFPB Consumer Advisory Notices, “Consumet Adv1sory
Student debt telief companies may cost you thousands of dollats and drive you further into
debt,” December 11, 2014, by Rohit Chopta, is attached, and incotporated into, this
Complaint as Exhibit “4”,

31.  Making matters worse, at some point, and also without notice ot explanation to
the Plaintiff and Class Membets, Flotida attorney Chantel Grant, esq., and an entity named
GM Law Fitm, PLLC (the “GM” stands fot Mason and Gtant) become the attorneys fot
Plaintiff and Class Members, It is not cleat why, how, ot when this occurted.

32. Acopyofa Deéembet 2, 2017, email from Susan Byrne of “Nationial Legal Staff
Suppott” (Plaintiff does not know what, ot who, National Legal Staff Suppott is — this
remains an open mystety, along with the connection between National Legal Staff Suppott
and the Defendants) that identifies Chantel Grant as the Plaintiffs attorney undet Ex. 2 to
this Complaint is attached to, and incotpotated as Exhibit “5” into this Complaint. The email
reads: “The attorney is Chantel Grant when you signed the new POA that is why- she
is the attorney.”

33,  Further, the Defendants have matetially mistepresented (eithet in 4 grossly-
negligent mannet o, in the alternative, through actual knowledge of the matetial
misrepresentations) the attotney fees that their clients are liable to pay. The 50% of the
ptincipal balance of all student loan fee that the Defendants is tepresented as 4 60-month,
monthly payment under some sott of global-student-loan-debt-settlement-program, and not
as an attotneys’ fee. This is precisely the negligent or intentional misteptesentation that
occutred with Plaintiff and Class Members that caused Plaintiff and Class Membets to agree
to the automatically-drafted monthly payments to be paid to the Defendants /the RICO

Enterprise.
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34,  This program of so-called “ptivate student loan debt resolution” legal services
perpetuated, and impropetly-solicited, by the Defendants in this matter constitutes the
following causes of action, as telates to the Plaintff and Class Members in this Complaint: (1)
(gross) legal malpractice; (2) breaches of fiduciaty duties; (3) negligent misrepresentation of
matetial facts; (4) violations of the Racketeeting Influeniced and Corrupt Organizations Act
(RICO Act), (5) claims for violation of California Business & Professions Code § 17200, ¢f
seq.; ot (6) in the alternative, convetsion of the Plaintiff’s and Class Members’ payments made
to these Defendants.

35.  As asole and proximate tesult of the six above-teferenced class action causes of
action pleaded against the Defendants in this Complaint (in addition to the Plaintiffs
individual fraud claims), Plaintiff and Class Members have suffered severe financial damages,
and other hedonic injuties, to be determined by the juty at tial, The Plaintiff and Class
Members futther make demand against the Defendants fot a tefund of all monies paid to any
of these Defendants, treble damages, statutory damages, punitive damages, attotneys’ fees,
pre-and-post judgment interest, statutory damages, and all other relief permitted by law and
equity.

B. Plaintiff and Members of the Classes Suffered Harm as a Result of
Defendants’ Grossly-Negligent, Unfait, or Improper Practices.

36.  Defendants reaped immense profits at the expense of their clients (victims)
through its “ptivate student loan resolution” factoty-farm legal malpractice scheme. While
Defendants continued to line their pockets, their clients, like Matthew Ali, and Class
Membets were fotced to pay for the petformance of no legitimate legal services, as
promised, and they were futther duped into paying these monthly chasges, on auto draft, by
bi-weekly “follow up” emails from the National Legal Staff Support (whatever that is) that
represented to Plaintiff and Class Membets that their private student loan accounts wete up-
to-date, not delinquent, not reported as negative accounts on theit credit repotts with the
majot credit-tepotting bureaus (Equifax, T'ransUnion, Expetian), and that everything in the

so-called “settlement programn” was going fine.
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37.  Phintiff, Matthew All, who lives on a monthly disability check due to his
legal blindness and albinism, paid the Defendants $254.06 2 month, for 34 months =
for a total of $8,638.04 — or 1/3 of his monthly fixed-income, for what amounted to no
meaningful legal reptesentation, at all,

38, Class Members suffered injuries typical to those of Matthew Ali, and these
injuties are based upon common questions of fact and law in relation to the claims of
Plaintiff, Matthew Al

39.  Shockingly, and proof that the Defendants have performed no meaningful legal
services on behalf of Plaintiff, Matthew Ali, and Class Membets, is the following fact: the
National Collegiate Student Loan T'rust 2007-3, a Delawate statutoty trust (presumably, the
holder ot trustee of Matthew Ali’s ptivate student loan accounts), sued Matthew Ali for non-
payment of the exact private student loan accounts that the Defendants represented were
being handled by thet as a patt of the so-called “settlement progtam” (non-existent) that the
Defendants have executed with Navient, among other creditots of private student loan debt,

40.  Ttis inconceivable, and it is shocking to the conscience, that Matthew Ali would
be sued, without watning, by the National Collegiate Student T.oan Trust 2007-3, a Delaware

statutoty trust, when the Defendants wete teptesenting to Matthew Ali that they were taking

cate of everything telated to this private student loans, and that everything with his ptivate

student loan accounts was cuttent, up-date-date, and otherwise, “fine”,

41, A copy of the Summons setved upon Matthew All in the California state court
collection action initiated by the National Collegiate Student Loan Trust 2007-3, a Delawate
statutoty trust, is attached to, and fully incotporated into this Complaiit, as Exhibit “6”.

42.  After being sued by the National Collegiate Student Loan Trust, Matthew Ali
discovered the injuties caused by the (concerted) negligent, ot, in the altetnative, fraudulent,
conduct of the Defendants.

43.  Promptly after making this discovety, on ot about eatly Januaty 2018, Matthew
Ali formally canceled his legal setvices agteement with the Defendants. A copy of the email,

with the attached Cancellation Lettet, signed by Chantel Grant, on behalf of the Defendants,
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and dated January 5, 2018, is attached to, and fully incorporated into, this Complaint as
Collective Exhibit “7”,
V. TOLLING

44,  Plaintiff and membets of the Classes had no way of knowing the true nature and
extent of Defendants’ legal-malpractice scheme necessaty to ptosecute their claims, As
demonstrated by the Exhibits to this Complaint, and the pleaded within it, the Defendants
wete intent on hiding their behaviot ftom theit clients and regulators (like the state Bat
Associations, the CFPB, and state attotneys generals offices, etc.),

45.  Defendants were under a continuous duty to disclose to Plaintiff and members
of the Classes the truc charactet, quality, and nature of the legal representation that they were
providing,

46,  Defendants knowingly and actively concealed theit legal-malpractice scheme,
and Plaintiff and membets of the Classes reasonably telied upon Defendants’ knowing and
active concealment, Plaintiffs and membets of the Classes thus had no way of knowing the
true charactet, quality and natute of the legal tepresentation for which they have been, and
continue to be, charged. '

47.  Accotdingly, the applicable statutes of limitations have been tolled by opetation
of the discovety rule and Defendants’ concealtment with respect to all claims pleaded in this
Complaint, and Defendants are estopped ftom telying on any statutes of limitations in
defense of this action, Further, Defendants’ conduct, as ditected by Kevin Mason and Chantel
Grant, was patt of a continuing, systematic practice, with the last act in the legal-malpractice
scheme taking place within the applicable statute of limitations. As such, the Defendants ate
liable for all acts undestaken as part of the scheme as continuing violations,

VI. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

48.  Plaintiff brings this lawsuit as 2 class action on behalf of himself, individually,

and all others similarly situated as membets of the proposed Classes pursuant to Federal

Rules of Civil Procedute 23(a) and 23(b)(3). This action satisfies the numerosity,
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commonality, typicality, adequacy, ptedominance, and supetiotity requirements of those
provisions.

49.  'The Classes, and sub-classes, that the Plaintiff seeks to cettify, with him as the
Class Repfesentaﬁve, ate defined as follows!

Nationwide Classes (five): All individuals in the United States who have
suffered financial loss at the hands of Defendants, Kevin Mason, P.A,, GM Law
Firm, LI.C, Kevin P. Mason, esq., individually, Chantel L. Grant, esq,,
individually, or Stuart E. Goldbetg individually (the “Defendants”), due to those
attorneys’, and their law firms” (1) legal malpractice; (2) breach of conttact,
breach of exptess and implied watranties; (3) breaches of fiduciary duties, (4)
violations of the Racketeeting Influenced and Cotrupt Otganizations Act; or (5)
conversion of the payments taken by the Defendants via auto draft of class
members bank accounts, over the Class Petiod,

California Sub-Class: All residents of California who are membets of one, ot
mote, of the five proposed nationwide classes, defined above.

Second California Sub-Class: All tesidents of California who has suffered
financial loss at the hands of the Defendants, ot their RICO Enterptise, in
violation of California Business & Professions Code § 17200, ¢ seg.

50. Excluded from the proposed Class and Sub-Classes are Defendants, as well as
theit agents, officers, and directors, and theit families, as well as its parent companies,
subsidiaties, and affiliates. Any judicial officer assigned to this case is also excluded. Plaintiff
reserves the tight to tevise the definition of the Class and Sub-Classes based upon
subsequently discovered information.

51, ‘This action is brought and may be ptopetly maittained as a class action under
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 23(a) and 23(b)(3).

52.  'The Classes ate so numetous that joindet of all membets is impracticable.
Plaintiff believes that thete are thousands of ptoposed members of the Classes throughout the
United States.

53,  Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Classes and

ptedominate over any issues solely affecting individual membets of the Classes.
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54.  Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the Classes. As pleaded in this
Complaint, Plaintiff and members of the Classes all sustained damages atising out of the same
course of negligent, or unlawful, conduct by Defendants and their RICO Hntetptise.

55.  Plaintiff is willing and prepared to setve the Classes in a representative capacity
with all of the obligations and duties material to doing so. Plaintiff will faitly and adequately
protect the intetests of the Classes and have o intetests adverse to, ot which confliet with,
the interests of the other membets of the Classes.

56,  Plaintiffs interests are co-extensive with, and fiot antagonistic to, those of the
absent members of the Classes. Plaintiff will undertake to reptesent and protect the interests
of the absent members of the Classes.

57, Plaintiff has engaged the services of the undersigned counsel. Counsel ate

experienced in complex litigation, will adequately prosecute this action, and will assert and

protect the rights of, and otherwise teptesent, Plaintiff and the absent membets of the

Classes.

58. A class action is supetiot to all other available methods for the fair and efficient
adjudication of this controversy. Plaintiff knows of no difficulty to be encounteted in the
management of this litigation that would preclude its maintenance as a class action,

59.  Class action status is wartanted under Rule 23(b)(3) because questions of law o
fact common to the membets of the Classes predominate ovet any questions affecting only
individual members, and a class action is supetior to other available methods for the fait and
efficient adjudication of this controvetsy.

60. The interest of members of the Classes in individually controlling the
prosecution of separate actions is theotetical, and not practical. Ptosecution of the action
through multiple representatives would be objectionable, and Plaintiff antcipates no difficulty

in the management of this mattet as a class action.
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VII. CLAIMS
FIRST CLAIM
VIOLATION OF THE RACKETEER INFLUENCED
AND CORRUPT ORGANIZATIONS ACT, 18 U.S.C. § 1962(C)
ON BEHALF OF THE NATIONWIDE CLASS AND THE SUB-CLASSES
AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS

61.  Plaintiff hereby incorpotate by reference the preceding paragraphs as if they

were fully set forth herein,

62.  Plaintiff, each member of the Classes, and Defendants are “persons,” as that

term is defined in 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961(3) and 1962(c).

A.  Entetprise

63.  Tor purposes of this clait, the RICO “enterprise” is an association-in-fact, as
the term is defined in 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961(4) and 1962(c), consisting of Kevin Mason, Chantel
Grant, Kevin Mason, P.A., GM Law Firm, PLLC, Stuatt Goldbetg, and Non-Parties
Affiliated with the RICO Enterptise identified above, including their respective officers,
directots, employees, agents and ditect and inditect subsidiaties (the “Entetptise”). The
Enterprise is separate and distinct from the persons that constitute the Entetprise,

64.  The Enterprise was ptimarily managed by Kevin Mason and Chantel Grant, and
other members.

65. 'The companies and individuals that constitute the Enterprise were associated for
the common purpose of defrauding theit clieits by charging them for legal services that wete
not performed as a patt of a “settlement agreement” with the private student loan companies
that, upon information and belief, does not exist,

66. At all relevant times, the Fnterprise was engaged in and its activites affected
interstate commerce. The proceeds of the Entetptise wete distributed to its patticipants.

67.  The Enterptise has operated from at least Jatuary 2010 and its opetation is
ongoing. The Enterprise has an ascettainable structure sepatate and apart from the pattetn of

racketeeting activity in which the participants engage.
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B. The Pattern of Racketeeting Activity

68. At all relevant times, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), Kevih Mason and
Chantel Grant, conducted the affairs of the Finterptise thtough a pattern of tacketeering
activity as defined in RICO, 18 U.S.C. § 1961(5) by vittue of the conduct described in this
complaint. Kevin Mason and Chantel Gratit have conducted the affaits of the Enterprise and
participated in the operation and management of the Entetprise, as described through this
Complaint.

C. The Predicate Acts of Mail and Wite Fraud

69.  The pattern of racketeeting activity consisted of mail and/or wite fraud in
violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1343, Specifically, Kevih Mason, Chantel Grant, and Stuazt

Goldberg engaged in an intentional scheme ot attifice to defraud their clients into setting up

| monthly auto draft payments undet the false, or negligent, premise that the Defendants would

forward these monthly payments received from theit clients, in trust, to their clients’ private
student loan creditors. This never happened. Upon information and belief, the Defendants
simply pocketed these payments and otherwise converted them for theit own, personal gain,

70.  The false statement and omissions, and mail and/ot wite communications were
made by the Defendants in furtherance of the scheme constituted predicate acts of mail
and/or wire fraud.

71. It was reasonably foreseeable to the Defendants that the mails and/ot wites
would be used in furtherance of the scheme, and the mails and/or wites wete in fact used to
further and execute the scheme,

72.  'The nature and pervasiveniess of the Entetptise necessatily entailed frequent wire
and/or mail transmissions. The precise dates of such transmissions cannot be alleged without
access to the books and tecords of the Defendants. Nevettheless, Plaindff can allege such
transmissions generally.

73.  For the purpose of futrtheting and executing the scheme, the Defendants
regulatly transmitted and caused to be transmitted by means of wite communication in

interstate commerce writings, electronic data and funds, and also tegulatly caused matters and
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things to be placed in post offices ot authotized depositoties, ot deposited ot caused to be
deposited matters or things to be sent ot delivered by private ot commercial interstate carriet,

74.  These communications contained both affirmative misrepresentations about the
natute of the chatges, and were also intended to deceive Plaintiff and class membets into
believing that the monthly charges assessed to theit bank accounts wete legitimate,

75.  These ate only examples of cettain instances of the pattern of racketeeting
activity consisting of mail and/or wite fraud violations engaged in by the Defendants. Each
electronic and/ot postal transmission was iticidesit to an essential part of the scheme. As
detailed above, the Defendants engaged in similar activities with respect to each member of
the Classes. _

76.  Tach such electronic and/ot postal transmission was incident to an essential patt
of the scheme. |

77.  Additionally, each such electronic and/ot postal transmission constituted a
predicate act of wite and/or mail fraud in that each transmission furthered and executed the
scheme to defraud the Defendant’s clients.

78.  The predicate acts of mail and wite fraud consttute a pattern of racketeering
activity as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 1961(5). The predicate acts wete not isolated events, but
related acts aimed at the common putpose and goal of defrauding the Defendants’ clients to
pay, monthly, for legal setvices that did not exist (as a part of a “settlement program” that also
does not exist) solely in order for the Defendants to teap illicit profits.

79.  All Defendants participated in the predicate acts, These activities amounted to a
common course of conduct, with similar patternt and putpose, intended to deceive botrowets,

D. Injuty to Plaintiffs and the Classes

80.  As a ditect and proximate tesult of violadons of 18 U.S.C, § 1962(c) by

Defendants, Plaintiffs and the Classes have been injuted in theit business ot property within
the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c). Plaintiff and the Classes paid and/ot were chatged for
unlawful, monthly auto draft charges to theit bank accounts by reason, and as a direct,

proximate and foreseeable tesult, of the scheme alleged.
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81.  Plaintiffs and the Classes wete also chatged overdraft fees, and othet amounts,
after the Defendants deducted the unlawful amounts from Plaintiffs’ accounts, and /ot
otherwise assessed charges that they wete not entitled to collect.

82.  Under the provisions of 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c), all Defendants ate jointly and
severally liable to Plaintiff and the Classes for three times the damages sustained, plus the
costs of bringing this suit, including reasonable attorneys’ fees,

SECOND CLAIM
VIOLATION OF CALIFORNIA’S UNFAIR COMPETITION LAW
CAL. BUS. & PROF. CODE § 17200, ET SEQ.

83.  Plaintiff incorporates by teference the preceding patagraphs as if they wete fully
set forth herein. .

84.  Plaintiff brings his § 17200 claim on behalf of himself and the Second California
Sub-Class, as defined in this Complaint, above. |

85.  Defendants wete requited to adhete to the requitements of California’s Unfait
Competition Law, Cal. Bus. & Prof, Code § 17200 et seq, (“the UCL”), when conducting
business with Plaintiff and membets of the Second California Sub-Class,

86.  Further, and if relevant, the UCL also reaches claims made by out-of-state
residents harmed by unlawful conduct occutting inside California.

87.  The UCL prohibits any “anlawful” business act ot practice. Defendants have
violated the UCL’s prohibition against engaging in unlawful acts ot practices by violating the
Racketeet Influenced and Cotrupt Otganizations Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1962, and the common law
torts of convetsion and fraud.

88.  Plaintiff reserves the tight to allege othet violatdons of law that constitute other
unlawful business acts o practices,

89.  The UCL also prohibits any “unfair” business act or practice. As detailed in the
preceding paragraphs, Defendants engaged in unfair business acts ot practices as a ceniiral

element to their “private student loan tesolution” scheme.
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90.  Defendants systematically engaged in these unfait and unlawful business
practices to the dettiment of Plaintiff and othetr membets of the Classes,

- 91, The harm caused by these business practices vastly outweighs any lepitimate
business utility they could possibly have.

92.  There wete teasonably available alternatives to further Defendants’ lepidmate
business interests other than engaging in the above-desctibed wrongful conduct,

93.  Phintiff and othet members of the Classes have been injuted and have suffered
a monetaty loss as a result of Defendants’ violations of the UCL. Plaintiff is entitled to
testitution in an amount to be determined at trial.

94.  As a result of Defendants’ violations of the UCIL, Plaintiff is also entitled to
recover attorneys’ fees and costs to be paid by Defendants, as provided by Cal. Code of Civil
Procedute § 1021.5 and other applicable law.

THIRD CLAIM
FRAUD (CLAIM IN THE ALTERNATIVE)

95.  Plintiff incotporates by reference the preceding patagraphs as if they were fully
set forth in this Complaint.

96.  In the alternative to the Plaintiff’s negligence claims, the intentional
misteptesentation of material facts related to the so-called “private student loan resolution”
legal services allegedly to be provided by attorneys, Kevin Mason and Chantel Grant, and
theit law firms, Kevin Mason, P.A,, and GM Law Firm, LLC, as well as Stuatt Goldberg, and
curtently unidentified attorneys and business entities working with these attorney and law
firms (John and Jane Doe Defendants 1-5 and XYZ Business Entity Defendants 1-5),
constitute sepatate frauds that have been committed against Plaintiff, 43 detailed in this
Complaint.

97.  'The Defendants have committed knowing and intendonal breaches of the

professional and fiduciaty duties that they owed to Plaintiff, as described in this Complaint.
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98.  As a tresult of his reasonable reliance on the Defendants’ fraudulent
misrepresentations, detailed in this Complaint, Plaintiff has suffered an ascertainable loss of
money, propetty, and other damages.

99,  As a result of Defendants’ fraudulent actions, Plaintiff is entitled to recover
compensatory damages along with punitive datnages in an amount sufficient to deter such
conduct in the futute, which amount is to be determined according to proof, along with all
attorneys’ fees.

FOURTH CLAIM
GROSS NEGLIGENCE - LEGAL MALPRACTICE

100. Plaintiff and Class Membets incorporate, by refetence, the facts pleaded in the
preceding patagraphs of this Complaint, .

101.  Attotneys, Kevin Mason, Chantel Grant, and Stuart Goldbetg, and their law
firms, Kevin Mason, P.A., and GM Law Fitm, T.I.C, and cuttently unidentified attorneys and
business entities working with these attorney and law firms (John and Jane Does 1-5 and XYZ,
Business Fintities 1-5) have committed breaches of the professional and fiduciary duties that
they owed to Plaintiff and Class Membets, a3 described in this Complaint.

102.  As a result of their reasonable teliance on the Defendants’ grossly-negligent
omissions/grossly-negligent legal services, Plaintiff and Class Members have suffered an ascertainable
loss of money, propetty, and other damages (including damage to their credit repotts, and, in the case
of Plaintiff, being a Defendant in an active California state court collection lawsuit brought by his
ptivate student loan creditors).

103.  Plaintiff and Class Members demand: all actual datmages suffered as a tesult of the
(gross) negligence of these Defendants, a tefund of all monies paid to these Defendants, with pre-
and-post judgment interest, all attorney’s fees, costs of litigation, and punitive damages. These
Attorney and Law Firm Defendants ate joint-and sevetally liable = based upon their concerted action
and scheme — for all actions of the fellow members of this class of Defendants, as pleaded in this

Complaint. Plaintiff further makes demand for indemnification of all judgments, and legal fees,
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incurred as a result of the California state court collection lawsult brought against Plaintiff by the
National Collegiate Student Loan Trust 2007-3, 4 Delawate statutoty ttust.

FIFTH CLAIM

CONVERSION

104.  Plaintiff and Class Membets incotpotate, by reference, the facts pleaded in the
preceding paragraphs of this Complaint.

105, Attorneys, Kevin Mason, Chantel Grant, and Stuatt Goldberg, and theit law firms,
Kevin Mason, P.A., and GM Law Firm, LLC, and curtently unidentified attorneys and business
entities working with these attorney and law firms (John and Jatie Does 1-5 and XYZ Business
Entities 1-5) have committed the tott of conversion as to all payments made to them by the Plaintiff
and Class Members, as described in this Complaint.

106.  The Defendants have mishandled the payments they have received from their clients,
like Plaintiff and Class Membets, by treating these payments as theit own property, when, in fact,
these payments wete paid, in trust, to the attorney-Defendants, and their law firms, for the sole
putpose of using these funds to pay these clients’ private student loan accounts,

107.  As a sole and proximate result of these wrongful acts of convetsion of client-money on
the patt of the Defendants, Plaintiff and Class Membets have suffered an ascertainable loss of
money, ptopetty, and other damages (including damage to theit credit reports and being named as
Defendants in state court collection lawsuits).

108.  Plaintiff and Class Membets, as a result of these wrongful acts of conversion on the
part of the Defendants demand: all actual damages suffered as a result of the acts of conversion; a
refund of all client-monies convetted by the Defendants, with pre-and-post judgment intetest; all
attorney’s fees; costs of litigation; and punitive damages.

/1!
/1!
/1]
/17
/17
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VIII.PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Plaintiff requests that this Court enter a judgment against Defendants and in favor of
Plaintiff and the Classes, and award the following relief:

a. that this action be certified as a class action pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure, declating Plaintiff as representative of the Classes, and Plaintiff’s
counsel as counsel for the Classes;

b.  that the conduct hetein be declared, adjudged and decteed to be unlawful;

c. award Plaintiff and members of the Classes approptiate relief, including actual

damages, statutory damages, tteble damages, punitive damages, and restitutionary

disgorgement;
d.  award all costs of prosecuting the litigation, iicluding expert fees;
e, awatd pte- and post-judgment interest;
f. award attorneys’ fees; and |
g grant such additional telief as this Coutt may deem just and proper.

IX. DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
Putsuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 38(b), Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by

jury as to all claims in this action,

Dated: January 24, 2018 Respectfully submitted,

GAMEZ LAW FIRM, PC

Daniel R, Gamez Law 4‘—6

California Bar No.: 222578
501 W. Broadway, Suite 800
San Diego, CA 92101
Telephone: (858) 217-5051

-and-
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THE LAW OFFICE OF MACY D.
HANSON, PLLC

Macy D, Hanson

Mississippi Bat No.t 104197

(pro hae viee applicadon forthcoming)
The Echelon Centet

102 First Choice Drive

Madison, Mississippi 39110
Telephone: (601) 853-9521
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